ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

Special Board Meeting

Tuesday, February 20, 2024 at 1:00 p.m.

Via Teleconference and at 614 N. Tejon St., Colorado Springs, CO 80903

Please join my meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone:

https://video.cloudoffice.avaya.com/join/128323143

Or, join by phone: (213) 463-4500 Meeting ID: 128323143

Board of Directors	Title	Term
Jordan Honea	President	May 2027*
Kim Herman	Vice President	May 2025
Michael Harty	Secretary	May 2025
VACANT	Treasurer	May 2027*
VACANT	Assistant Secretary	May 2027*

^{*}Seats will be on the ballot for two-year terms at the May 2025 Election

AGENDA

- 1. Call to Order/Declaration of Quorum
- 2. Conflict of Interest Disclosures
- 3. Approval of Agenda
- 4. Public Comment Members of the public may express their views to the Board on matters that affect the Districts. Comments will be limited to three (3) minutes.
- 5. Consent Agenda:
 - a. Consider Approval of November 28, 2023 Board Meeting Minutes (enclosure)
 - b. Consider Approval of Payables for the Period ending December 31, 2023 (enclosure)
 - c. Consider Acceptance of Unaudited Financial Statements as of December 31, 2023, and the Schedule of Cash Position Updated as of December 31, 2023 (enclosure)
- 6. Legal Matters
 - a. Consider Approval of Operating Reimbursement Agreement with Melody Homes, Inc. (enclosure)
 - b. Consider Approval of Infrastructure Acquisition and Funding Agreement with Melody Homes, Inc. (enclosure)
 - c. Consider Consent to Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restriction of Ellston Park, to be recorded by Declarant, Melody Homes, Inc. (under separate cover)
 - d. Consider Adoption of Design Guidelines (under separate cover)
 - e. Consider Adoption of Resolution Designating Location to Post Notice (enclosure)
- 7. Development Matters:
 - a. Development Update
- 8. Adjournment Next Board Meeting is scheduled for May 21, 2024 at 1:00 p.m.





MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT NOVEMBER 28, 2023, AT 10:30 AM

Pursuant to posted notice, the special meeting of the Board of Directors of the Ellston Park Metropolitan District was held on Tuesday, November 28, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. via video teleconference.

In attendance were Directors:

Jordan Honea Kim Herman Michael Herman (Excused)

Also, in attendance were:

Heather Smith, WSDM Kevin Walker, WSDM Matt Ruhland, CEGR Law Sarah Luetjen, CEGR Law Madison Phillips, CEGR Law

- 1. <u>Call to Order/Declaration of Quorum:</u> Ms. Smith called the meeting to order at 10:03 a.m. and it was confirmed that a quorum was present.
- 2. Conflict of Interest Disclosures: Ms. Smith advised the Board that, pursuant to Colorado law, certain disclosures might be required prior to taking official action at the meeting. Ms. Smith reported that disclosures for those directors that provided CEGR Law with notice of potential or existing conflicts of interest were filed with the Secretary of State's Office and the Board at least 72 hours prior to the meeting, in accordance with Colorado law, and those disclosures were acknowledged by the Board. Ms. Smith noted that a quorum was present and inquired as to whether members of the Board had any additional disclosures of potential or existing conflicts of interest pertaining to any matters scheduled for discussion at the meeting. No additional disclosures were noted.
- 3. <u>Approval of the Agenda:</u> Ms. Smith noted three (3) additions to the agenda. Director Herman moved to approve the Agenda as amended; seconded by Director Honea. Motion carried.
- 4. <u>Ratification of Appointment of Directors and Seating of Officers:</u> Director Herman moved to ratify the appointment of Jordan Honea, serving as President of the Board; Michael Harty, serving as Vice President of the Board; and Kim Herman, service as Secretary/Treasurer of the Board; seconded by Director Honea. Motion carried.
- 5. <u>Public Comment:</u> There was no public comment.

6. Legal Matters:

a. Annual Administrative Resolution – Mr. Ruhland reviewed the Annual Administrative Resolution of Ellston Park Metropolitan District (2024) in brief. After discussion, the regular meeting schedule was established with meetings to occur on the third Tuesday of February, May, August, and November. President Honea moved to approve the Resolution to include the regular meeting schedule; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.

- b. Public Records Request Policy Mr. Ruhland reviewed the Resolution Designating the Official Custodian of Records and Adopting a Policy on Responding to Open Records Requests in brief. President Honea moved to approve the Resolution as presented; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.
- c. Resolution Designating Posting Location Mr. Ruhland reviewed the Ellston Park Metropolitan District Resolution Designating Location to Post Notice. Director Herman moved to approve the Resolution as presented; seconded by President Honea. Motion carried.
- d. Workers Compensation Resolution Mr. Ruhland reviewed the Ellston Park Metropolitan District Resolution Determining Not To Provide Workers' Compensation Insurance Coverage For Uncompensated Members of the Board of Directors. After discussion, President Honea moved to approve the Resolution as presented; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.

7. Management Matters:

a. Ms. Smith provided an update on the transition of records and outlined that signature cards would be issued to President Honea and Director Herman in the days to come for establishment of the initial District bank accounts.

8. <u>Development Update:</u>

a. Director Herman stated that tree removal had begun on the vacant land.

9. Insurance Matters:

a. Insurance Needs and Coverage Binding – A brief discussion was had regarding the status of actual property for the District, which is currently titled to, insured under, and overseen by Dr. Horton. After discussion, Director Herman motioned to decline coverage at this time; seconded by President Honea. Motion carried.

10. Financial Matters:

- a. Public Hearing Director Herman moved to open the Public Hearing on the 2024 Budget; seconded by President Honea. Motion carried. Ms. Smith presented the 2024 Budget. No public was present to be heard. President Honea moved to close the Public Hearing; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.
 - i. President Honea moved to approve the Resolution To Adopt Budget, for the Calendar Year 2024; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.

11. New Business:

- a. Cockrel, Ela, Glesne, Greher & Ruhland, P.C. (CEGR Law) Engagement Director Herman moved to ratify the engagement of CEGR Law; seconded by President Honea. Motion carried.
- b. WSDM, LLC. 2023 Engagement Letter President Honea moved to ratify the Engagement of WSDM for District Management Services for 2023; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.
- c. WSDM, LLC. 2024 Engagement Letter President Honea moved to approve the Engagement of WSDM for District Management Services for 2024; seconded by Director Herman. Motion carried.

12. Adjournment: The Board unanimously adjourned the meeting at 10:21 a.m.

a. Next Regular Board Meeting – February 20, 2024, at 1:00 p.m. via teleconference.

Accepted,		
By: President		

THESE MINUTES ARE APPROVED AS THE OFFICIAL NOVEMBER 28, 2023, MINUTES OF THE ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT.



ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT PAYMENT REQUEST 12/31/223 GENERAL FUND ACCOUNT

Company	Invoice	Date	Amount	Comments
CEGR Law	103123	10/31/2023	\$ 1,535.00	
CEGR Law	113023	11/30/2023	\$ 2,253.50	
CEGR Law	123123	12/31/2023	\$ 377.50	
WSDM District Manager	7805	11/30/2024	\$ 2,580.83	
WSDM District Manager	7808	12/31/2023	\$ 2,897.80	
TOTAL			\$ 9,644.63	



2:49 PM 02/15/24 Accrual Basis

Elston Park Metropolitan District Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2023

	Dec 31, 23
ASSETS	
Current Assets	
Accounts Receivable	
Accounts Receivable	9,644.63
Total Accounts Receivable	9,644.63
Total Current Assets	9,644.63
TOTAL ASSETS	9,644.63
LIABILITIES & EQUITY	
Liabilities	
Current Liabilities	
Accounts Payable	
Accounts Payable	9,644.63
Total Accounts Payable	9,644.63
Total Current Liabilities	9,644.63
Total Liabilities	9,644.63
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY	9,644.63

2:47 PM 02/15/24 Accrual Basis

Elston Park Metropolitan District Profit & Loss

January through December 2023

	Jan - Dec 23
Ordinary Income/Expense	
Income	
Developer Advance - O&M	9,644.63
Total Income	9,644.63
Expense	
Insurance	103.25
District Management	
Legal	4,166.00
District Management - Other	5,001.45
Total District Management	9,167.45
Operations	
Office Supplies	373.93
Total Operations	373.93
Total Expense	9,644.63
Net Ordinary Income	0.00
Net Income	0.00



OPERATING REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

This Operating Reimbursement Agree	ement (this "Agreement") is made and
entered into to be effective as of	, 2024, by and between ELLSTON
PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a qua	asi-municipal corporation and political
subdivision of the State of Colorado (the "Di	istrict"), and MELODY HOMES, INC., a
Delaware corporation (the "Company"), ind	ividually referred to herein as a "Party" and
collectively referred to herein as the "Parties	s."

RECITALS

- A. The District was organized under Article 1, Title 32, C.R.S. for the purpose of financing, planning, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, relocating, redeveloping and maintaining water, streets and roadway, parks and recreation, sanitation and drainage and other public improvements, infrastructure and facilities within and without the boundaries of the, in accordance with, and subject to the limitations set forth in the Service Plan (the "Service Plan") of Ellston Park Metropolitan District approved by the City of Colorado Springs.
- B. At present the District does not have sufficient funds available to pay its operating, maintenance, and administrative expenses.
- C. The Company, in its sole and absolute discretion, may advance funds as requested from time to time by the District to pay such expenses with the expectation of eventually being reimbursed by the District pursuant to this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and other good and sufficient consideration, the Parties agree to the terms discussed hereinafter.

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

1. Advances.

- a. The District was organized by an Order and Decree granted by the El Paso County District Court on November 5, 2021 and recoded with the El Paso County Clerk & Recorder at Reception Number 221219966 on December 1, 2021. The Company, in its sole and absolute discretion, may, but shall not be obligated to in any manner, advance additional funds (the "Advances") as requested from time to time by the District to pay any future operating, maintenance, and/or administrative expenses in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- b. If the District determines that it will not have sufficient funds available to pay the District's anticipated operating, maintenance, and/or administrative expenses for the next fiscal year, the District shall calculate the anticipated amount of

such funding shortfall (the "Funding Shortfall"), which shall be classified by nature of use.

- c. The District may submit written requests on a quarterly basis to the Company to deposit with the District's bank the amount of the Funding Shortfall anticipated to be needed for the next fiscal quarter. The Company, after reasonable verification of such Funding Shortfall, may, in its sole and absolute discretion, make an Advance and fund the Funding Shortfall for the next fiscal quarter after such request from the District. To the extent any Advance is not spent by the District in the fiscal quarter for which it was requested, the unspent amount of the Advance shall be applied to reduce any Funding Shortfall anticipated for the subsequent fiscal quarter.
- d. Within 45 days after the end of each fiscal year during the term of this Agreement, the District shall complete an accounting of any funds advanced pursuant to this Agreement, which shall be classified by nature of use. In the event that the funds advanced hereunder exceed the actual costs and expenses incurred by the District for operation, maintenance, and/or administration, the District shall refund such excess amounts to the Company within 30 days of such accounting and a written request from the Company.

2. Reimbursement.

- a. If and to the extent the District has legally available revenue which is not otherwise appropriated, obligated, pledged or reserved for any current or future purpose in any fiscal year, the District will, from such available sources, reimburse the Company for all Advances, together with interest thereon at 8.0% per annum (cumulatively, the "Operating Reimbursement Amount") commencing as of the date of each Advance, but in no event prior to the date the District was organized.
- b. Any decision by the Board of Directors of the District to appropriate the Operating Reimbursement Amount, however, shall be purely discretionary and non-obligatory.
- c. The Parties acknowledge that no proceeds of tax-exempt obligations of the District shall be used to reimburse the Company for the Operating Reimbursement Amount.
- d. Payments by the District for the Operating Reimbursement Amount shall be applied first to interest on, then to principal of the Advances in chronological order to their effective date.
- e. The District's obligation to reimburse the Company shall be automatically suspended for any period in which the District is on inactive status under Section 32-1-104(3)(a), C.R.S., and shall automatically revive upon the District returning

to active status under Section 32-1-104(3)(b), C.R.S. While on inactive status, interest on any Operating Reimbursement Amount shall continue to accrue as provided in Section 2(a).

- 3. <u>Waiver of Covenants</u>. The District, in its discretion, may waive any of the covenants of the Parties set forth herein by written notice to the Company; provided, however, that such waiver shall not constitute a general waiver of all covenants, nor shall any such waiver prevent the District from enforcing other terms of this Agreement.
- 4. <u>Integrated Agreement and Amendments</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the District's payment obligation for operating expenses and the other matters set forth herein and replaces in their entirety any prior agreements, understandings, warranties or representations made by or between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may be amended only by the mutual written agreement of the Parties, which agreement shall be executed with the same formalities as this Agreement shall have been executed.
- 5. <u>Notice</u>. Any notices, demands, or other communications required or permitted to be given in writing hereunder shall be delivered personally or sent by registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to the Parties at the addresses set forth below, or at such other address as either Party may hereafter or from time to time designate by written notice to the other Party given in accordance herewith. Notice shall be considered given when personally delivered or mailed and shall be considered received by the Party to whom it is addressed on the third day after such notice is given.

To the District:

Ellston Park Metropolitan District c/o WSDM District Managers 614 North Tejon Street Colorado Springs, Colorado 80903 Attention: Heather Smith

With a copy to:

Cockrel Ela Glesne Greher & Ruhland, P.C. 44 Cook Street, Suite 620 Denver, Colorado 80211 Attention: Matt Ruhland

To the Company:

Melody Homes, Inc.

9555 South Kingston Court #200 Englewood, Colorado 80112

Attention: Bill Carlisle

- 6. <u>Assignment</u>. This Agreement, and each and every of its rights and obligations, may not be assigned by either Party except with the written consent of the non-assigning Party. This Agreement shall inure to the mutual benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and authorized assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Party may make an assignment of this Agreement that would result in a failure to comply with Interpretive Order No. 06-IN-001, and any such assignment shall be deemed void *ab initio*.
- 7. <u>Severability</u>. If any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be adjudged to be invalid and unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or by operation of law, such clause or provision shall not affect the validity of this Agreement as a whole or of its other clauses and provisions.
- 8. <u>Enforcement</u>. This Agreement shall inure to the mutual benefit of the Parties, their respective heirs, successors and permitted assigns, subject to Section 6 hereof, and shall be enforceable according to its terms and conditions under the laws of the State of Colorado. In this regard, the Parties hereto agree that this Agreement may be enforced in law or in equity, by decree of specific performance or damages, or pursuant to such other legal and/or equitable relief as may be available under the laws of the State of Colorado.
- 9. <u>Default / Remedies</u>. In the event of any breach or default of this Agreement, each Party shall be entitled to exercise any remedy available in equity or at law. In this regard, this Agreement may be enforced by specific performance or injunction, or pursuant to such other legal and/or equitable relief as may be available under the laws of the State. The prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs. Absent bad faith or fraud by the District, no penalty shall be imposed upon the District because of its inability to pay any portion of the Operating Reimbursement Amount to the Company. There shall be no acceleration in the repayment of outstanding Operating Reimbursement Amount in the event of any default. Nothing contained herein shall allow recovery for consequential or punitive damages. Venue for any judicial action shall be in the State District Court for El Paso County.
- 10. <u>Counterpart Execution</u>. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, and the signature of a Party affixed to a counterpart signature of the other Party shall be deemed to constitute execution of the Agreement.
- 11. <u>Term.</u> The term of this Agreement shall end on the date that the Operating Reimbursement Amount has been paid in full to the Company or its assignee in accordance with the terms hereof or 40 years after the date hereof, whichever date occurs

first in time. Any Operating Reimbursement Amount remaining unpaid under this Agreement as of the date of termination shall be considered discharged and satisfied in full.

- 12. <u>Agreement Not an Indebtedness or Multiple Fiscal Year Financial</u>
 <u>Obligation</u>. The payment obligations under this Agreement shall be subject to annual appropriation by the Board of Directors of the District in its sole and absolute discretion. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect district debt or other financial obligation within the meaning of Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution.
- 13. <u>Governmental Immunity</u>. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the rights and privileges of the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act.
- 14. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Colorado.
- 15. <u>Authority</u>. By its execution hereof, each Party represents and warrants that its representative signing hereunder has full power and lawful authority to execute this document and bind the respective Party to the terms hereof.
- 16. <u>Conflicting Provisions</u>. To the extent that any conflict exists between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Service Plan, the provisions of the Service Plan shall control.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Operating Reimbursement Agreement as of the day and year first set forth above.

ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

	В	y
		President
Attest:		
Secretary		
		MELODY HOMES, INC., a Delaware orporation
	R	ΛI•
	N:	y:ame:
	Ti	tle:
STATE OF COLORADO))ss.	
COUNTY OF)	
	, 2024, by _	ment Agreement was acknowledged before as of Melody half of said corporation.
WITNESS my hand and official	seal.	
My commission expires:		
(SEAL)		
	$\overline{\mathbf{N}}$	otary Public



INFRASTRUCTURE ACQUISITION AND FUNDING AGREEMENT

This Infrastructure Acquisition and Funding	g Agreement (this "Agreement") is
made and entered into to be effective as of	, 2024, by and between
ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT	, a quasi-municipal corporation and
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the '	"District"), and MELODY HOMES,
INC., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), in	ndividually referred to herein as a
"Party" and collectively referred to herein as the "	'Parties."

RECITALS

- A. The District was organized under Article 1, Title 32, C.R.S. for the purpose of financing, planning, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, relocating, redeveloping and maintaining water, streets and roadway, parks and recreation, sanitation and drainage and other public improvements, infrastructure and facilities within and without the boundaries of the District (the "Public Infrastructure"), in accordance with, and subject to the limitations set forth in the Service Plan (the "Service Plan") of Ellston Park Metropolitan District approved by the City of Colorado Springs (the "City").
- B. Pursuant to Section 32-1-1001(1)(f) and (h), C.R.S., the District has the power to acquire real and personal property, including rights and interests in property and easements necessary for District functions or operations, and to acquire, construct and install the public improvements, infrastructure and facilities authorized in the Service Plan.
- C. At an organizational/TABOR Election held by the District on November 2, 2021, a majority of the eligible electors voting at such election voted in favor of, among other matters, the District incurring indebtedness and other multiple-fiscal year financial obligations to finance the planning, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, relocating and redeveloping of the Public Infrastructure.
- D. At present the District does not have sufficient funds available to finance the planning, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, relocating and redeveloping of the Public Infrastructure.
- E. The Company, in its sole and absolute discretion, may either advance funds to the District to plan, design, engineer, acquire, construct, install, relocate and redevelop certain Public Infrastructure or may plan, design, engineer, acquire, construct, install, relocate and redevelop certain Public Infrastructure and then to transfer such Public Infrastructure to the District, the City or other governmental entity for public use.
- F. The Parties agree that such Public Infrastructure will benefit the residents, property owners and taxpayers of the District, and the planning, designing, acquiring,

constructing, installing, relocating and redeveloping of the Public Infrastructure is in the public interest and will contribute to the health, safety and welfare of its citizens.

G. The District has determined it is in the public interest of the residents, property owners and taxpayers of the District for the District to plan, design, engineer, acquire, construct, install relocate and redevelop the Public Infrastructure and/or facilitate the planning, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, relocating and redeveloping of the Public Infrastructure and, when financially feasible, to pay the Company or its assignee for the costs of the Public Infrastructure (the "Costs") through and by means of the issuance of the District's bonds and other legally available funds in accordance with all limitations set forth in the Service Plan.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and other good and sufficient consideration, the Parties agree to the terms discussed hereinafter.

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

- 1. <u>Representations, Warranties and Covenants Relating to Public Infrastructure Constructed by the Company</u>. With respect to any Public Infrastructure planned, designed, engineered, acquired, constructed, installed, relocated and redeveloped by the Company hereunder, the Company, represents, warrants and covenants to its actual current knowledge as follows:
- a. All such Public Infrastructure has been or will be planned, designed, engineered, acquired, constructed, installed, relocated and redeveloped in conformance with all duly approved designs, plans and specifications and the requirements, standards and specifications of the District, the City or other governmental entity, as applicable, and will be conveyed, transferred or dedicated to the District, the City or other governmental entity for public use, free of all liens, encumbrances and obligations of every nature, except those of record and those a survey or inspection thereof would disclose.
- b. The foregoing representations, warranties and covenants are made as of the date of this Agreement and shall be deemed to be continuing for all purposes for the Warranty Period (hereinafter defined), unless otherwise approved in writing by the District.
- 2. <u>Transfer of Public Infrastructure Constructed by the Company</u>. The Company shall convey, transfer or dedicate the Public Infrastructure to the District or, if so directed by the District, the City or other governmental entity upon completion and acceptance of the Public Infrastructure by the District, the City or other governmental entity, as applicable as follows:
- a. The Public Infrastructure shall conform to the requirements, standards and specifications of all public and/or private agencies to which the Public

Infrastructure may be or is required to be conveyed, transferred or dedicated by the District, including without limitation, the City or other governmental entity, in addition to any standards or requirements adopted by the District. At its discretion and request, the District may require the Company to arrange for the work to be inspected by the District's engineers, at the District's sole cost and expense, so that the engineers will be able to advise and certify to the District that all work was performed to their satisfaction and in compliance with the applicable drawings, standards and specifications.

- b. As a precondition to the conveyance, transfer or dedication of any Public Infrastructure to the District, the City or other governmental entity for ownership, maintenance and repair, the Company shall provide the District, the City or other governmental entity, as applicable, with a guarantee, to secure performance of warranty obligations against defects in materials, workmanship, construction and installation of the Public Infrastructure all for a two-year period (the "Warranty Period"). This requirement shall not apply to any Public Infrastructure for which the Company satisfies all the requirements of the entity to which the improvement, infrastructure or facility will ultimately be conveyed, transferred or dedicated if that entity agrees to take title and to release the District from any ongoing responsibility.
- c. The Company shall provide to the District or, if so directed by the District, to the City or other governmental entity: (i) a bill of sale, special warranty or quitclaim deed conveying, transferring or dedicating the Company's interests in the Public Infrastructure, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances and obligations of every nature, except those of record and those a survey or inspection thereof would disclose, and (ii) if applicable, a partial release of its interests in the Public Infrastructure from any lender that has loaned funds to complete the Public Infrastructure, together with any easements and rights-of-way necessary for the convenient construction, operation, repair, replacement or maintenance of any Public Infrastructure located on any property owned by the Company and that has not been conveyed, transferred or dedicated to the District, the City or other governmental entity, in a commercially reasonable form.
- d. The Company shall also provide to the District or the City or other governmental entity, as applicable, "as-built" drawings of all Public Infrastructure or a certification signed by a licensed professional engineer confirming the location and extent of the Public Infrastructure, together with supporting maps and other documentation as may be reasonably required by the District, or the City or other governmental entity, at the District's sole cost and expense, including without limitation any appraisals, surveys, environmental reports, permits, assignments of construction warranties, lien waivers, releases and other documentation relating to the Public Infrastructure or the transfer thereof.
- e. The District shall not accept conveyance, transfer or dedication of any Public Infrastructure, or any portion thereof, or be obligated to pay interest for any such Public Infrastructure until such Public Infrastructure is completed. Upon

completion of any Public Infrastructure, or any portion thereof, in conformance with all applicable requirements, standards and specifications of the Service Plan and all public and/or private agencies to which such Public Infrastructure may be or are required to be conveyed, transferred or dedicated to the District, including without limitation, the City or other governmental entity, in addition to any standards or requirements adopted by the District, such Public Infrastructure may be accepted for ownership by the District.

- 3. <u>Cost Certification</u>. The Costs of any Public Infrastructure subsequently acquired by or conveyed, transferred or dedicated to the District, the City or other governmental entity shall be determined based upon actual costs verified by the District, subject to the limitations detailed in Section 5(c) herein.
- a. The Costs shall include all construction costs, planning, design, engineering, surveying, construction management, legal and other consulting services, and any other allowable capital expense relating to the Public Infrastructure.
- b. Before any payment of any Costs are made hereunder, the Company shall provide a schedule of such Costs and the District shall have such Costs reviewed or audited by an independent public accountant, professional engineer, appraiser or valuation consultant, which may include the District's engineer and/or accountant, selected and by the District and paid for by the Company, substantiating the amount of the Costs.
- 4. <u>Capital Advances</u>. The Company has advanced or may in the future, in its sole discretion, provide advances to the District (the "Advances") as requested from time to time in writing by the District to pay certain costs related to the planning, designing, acquiring, constructing, installing, relocating and redeveloping of the Public Infrastructure, including without limitation, soft costs, such as those related to engineering, architectural, surveying or construction planning. Such Advances shall be treated as Costs herein and paid, to the extent certified as Costs, as provided in Section 3 herein. In connection with any Public Infrastructure for which an Advance is provided:
- a. The Company may request, and the District shall promptly provide to the Company, a certified statement of all design, testing, engineering, construction, related consultant fees and construction management (based on the bids it receives, and prepared by its engineer) of any Public Infrastructure for which an Advance is provided.
- b. The District agrees that it will enter into contracts for construction of the Public Infrastructure with the lowest responsive and responsible bidder (subject to District's discretion) (the "Contracts"). References to the Contracts herein shall refer to the Contracts as may be constituted or modified by the parties thereto and shall refer to both singular and plural.
- c. The District agrees that it will plan, design, engineer, acquire, construct, install, relocate and redevelop the Public Infrastructure in full conformance

with the design standards and specifications as established and in use by the District and other government entities pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and if applicable approved by a professional engineer licensed in the State of Colorado.

d. Within 45 days of final payment on any Contract awarded pursuant to this Agreement, the District shall conduct an accounting of the funds received pursuant to this Agreement. In the event Advances deposited hereunder exceeds the actual costs and expenses incurred for the Public Infrastructure, the District shall within 30 days of such accounting refund such excess amounts to the Company or shall apply the remaining amounts to the unpaid balance of any other Contract.

5. Payment of Costs.

- a. If and to the extent the District (i) receives bond proceeds for the acquisition or completion of the Public Infrastructure or (ii) has other legally available revenue which is not otherwise appropriated, obligated, pledged or reserved for any current or future purpose in any fiscal year, the District will, from such available sources, pay to the Company for all the Costs and other amounts actually advanced hereunder, together with interest thereon at 8.0% per annum (cumulatively, the "Infrastructure Repayment Amount") from the date (i) of transfer to the District or the City or other governmental entity for Public Infrastructure completed and transferred after the date hereof, or (ii) of an Advance, pursuant to Section 4 herein.
- b. The District will undertake commercially reasonable efforts to issue its tax-exempt bonds and to generate sufficient revenue to repay to the Company all of the Infrastructure Repayment Amount, subject to all conditions and limitations set forth herein and other applicable law. If requested, the District will also take all necessary action to recognize that interest paid to the Company on the Costs will, to the extent possible under federal tax regulations, be treated as exempt from federal income taxation. Any decision by the Board of Directors of the District to appropriate the Infrastructure Repayment Amount, however, shall be purely discretionary and non-obligatory.
- c. All of the Infrastructure Repayment Amount and any other obligation hereunder shall be: (i) limited to sums authorized in the Service Plan; (ii) limited to sums authorized via and ballot questions or TABOR election's conducted by the District; and (iii) limited to sums that may be available from the proceeds of any District bond offering and as limited under any related bond indenture or bond resolution and (iv) non-transferable or assignable, except to a person or entity (or its lender) which the District reasonably believes is engaged, either alone or with others, in the business of developing or improving property in the District for use, sale, lease or transfer to others.
- 6. <u>Waiver of Covenants</u>. The District, in its discretion, may waive any of the covenants of the Parties set forth herein by written notice to the Company; provided, however, that such waiver shall not constitute a general waiver of all covenants, nor shall any such waiver prevent the District from enforcing other terms of this Agreement.

- Integrated Agreement and Amendments. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the District's payment obligation for the Costs of any Public Infrastructure and the other matters set forth herein and replaces in their entirety any prior agreements, understandings, warranties or representations made by or between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may be amended only by the mutual written agreement of the Parties, which agreement shall be executed with the same formalities as this Agreement shall have been executed.
- 8. Notice. Any notices, demands, or other communications required or permitted to be given in writing hereunder shall be delivered personally or sent by registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed to the Parties at the addresses set forth below, or at such other address as either Party may hereafter or from time to time designate by written notice to the other Party given in accordance herewith. Notice shall be considered given when personally delivered or mailed and shall be considered received by the Party to whom it is addressed on the third day after such notice is given.

To the District:

Ellston Park Metropolitan District c/o WSDM District Managers 614 North Tejon Street Colorado Springs, Colorado 80903 Attention: Heather Smith

With a copy to:

Cockrel Ela Glesne Greher & Ruhland, P.C. 44 Cook Street, Suite 620 Denver, Colorado 80211 Attention: Matt Ruhland

To the Company:

Melody Homes, Inc. 9555 South Kingston Court #200 Englewood, Colorado 80112 Attention: Bill Carlisle

9. Assignment. This Agreement, and each and every of its rights and obligations, may not be assigned by either Party except with the written consent of the non-assigning Party. This Agreement shall inure to the mutual benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and authorized assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Party may make an assignment of this Agreement that would result in a failure to comply with Interpretive Order No. 06-IN-001 (the "**Interpretive Order**"), and any such assignment shall be deemed void *ab initio*.

- 10. <u>Severability</u>. If any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be adjudged to be invalid and unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or by operation of law, such clause or provision shall not affect the validity of this Agreement as a whole or of its other clauses and provisions.
- 11. <u>Enforcement</u>. This Agreement shall inure to the mutual benefit of the Parties, their respective heirs, successors and permitted assigns, subject to Section 9 hereof, and shall be enforceable according to its terms and conditions under the laws of the State of Colorado. In this regard, the Parties hereto agree that this Agreement may be enforced in law or in equity, by decree of specific performance or damages, or pursuant to such other legal and/or equitable relief as may be available under the laws of the State of Colorado.
- 12. <u>Default / Remedies</u>. In the event of any breach or default of this Agreement, each Party shall be entitled to exercise any remedy available in equity or at law. In this regard, this Agreement may be enforced by specific performance or injunction, or pursuant to such other legal and/or equitable relief as may be available under the laws of the State. The prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs. Absent bad faith or fraud by the District, no penalty shall be imposed upon the District because of its inability to pay any portion of the Infrastructure Repayment Amount to the Company. There shall be no acceleration in the payment of any outstanding balances of the Infrastructure Repayment Amount in the event of any default. Nothing contained herein shall allow recovery for consequential or punitive damages. Venue for any judicial action shall be in the State District Court for El Paso County.
- 13. <u>Counterpart Execution</u>. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, and the signature of a Party affixed to a counterpart signature of the other Party shall be deemed to constitute execution of the Agreement.
- 14. <u>Term</u>. The term of this Agreement shall end on the date that the Infrastructure Repayment Amount has been paid in full to the Company or its assignee in accordance with the terms hereof or 40 years from the date hereof, whichever date occurs first in time. Any Infrastructure Repayment Amount remaining unpaid under this Agreement as of the date of termination shall be considered discharged and satisfied in full.
- 15. Agreement Not an Indebtedness or Multiple Fiscal Year Financial Obligation. The payment obligations under this Agreement shall be subject to annual appropriation by the Board of Directors of the District in its sole and absolute discretion. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a multiple-fiscal

year direct or indirect district debt or other financial obligation within the meaning of Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution.

- 16. <u>Governmental Immunity</u>. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the rights and privileges of the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act.
- 17. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Colorado.
- 18. <u>Authority</u>. By its execution hereof, each Party represents and warrants that its representative signing hereunder has full power and lawful authority to execute this document and bind the respective Party to the terms hereof.
- 19. <u>Subordinate to District Bonded Indebtedness</u>. The obligations of the District hereunder to pay the Infrastructure Repayment Amount are subordinate in all respects to any bonded indebtedness of the District and the provisions of any indenture, loan agreement, pledge agreement or other similar financial agreement executed in connection with the issuance of such bonded indebtedness.
- 20. <u>Conflicting Provisions</u>. To the extent that any conflict exists between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Service Plan, the provisions of the Service Plan shall control.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Infrastructure Acquisition and Funding Agreement as of the day and year first set forth above.

ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

	By President
Attest:	
Secretary	_
	MELODY HOMES, INC., a Delaware corporation
	By:
	Name:
	Title:
STATE OF COLORADO))ss.	
COUNTY OF	
The foregoing Infrastructure Acq acknowledged before me this day or of Melody Homes, Inc., a I corporation.	fuisition and Funding Agreement was f, 2024, by as Delaware corporation, on behalf of said
WITNESS my hand and official seal.	
My commission expires:	
(SEAL)	
	Notary Public



ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT RESOLUTION DESIGNATING LOCATION TO POST NOTICE

WHEREAS, pursuant to §§24-6-402(2)(c) and 32-1-903(2), C.R.S., notice and, where possible, the agenda of the Ellston Park Metropolitan District (the "District") Board of Directors (the "Board") meetings at which the adoption of any formal action is to occur or at which a majority or quorum of the body is in attendance, or is expected to be in attendance, shall be posted within the boundaries of the District at least 24 hours prior to each meeting at a location designated at the first regular meeting of each year.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Ellston Park Metropolitan District as follows:

Notices of meetings (regular, special and work/study session) of the Board required pursuant to §24-6-401, *et seq.*, C.R.S., shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to each meeting at: https://wsdistricts.co/ellston-park-metropolitan-district/

In the event of an exigent or emergency circumstance such as a power outage or an interruption in internet service, the District will post notice of public meetings at least 24 hours prior to a meeting at the following physical location within the District at the approximate geographical location: Northeastern corner of Fillmore Ridge Heights and Sage Street.

ADOPTED this 20th day of February, 2024.

	ELLSTON PARK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
	By Chair
ATTEST:	
Secretary	